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1. Name of Property

historic name Bog Bridge

other names/site number Cilleyville Bridge

2. Location

street & number Spanning Pleasant (see continuation sheet) | _Inot for publication N/A
city, town Andover L _Ivicinity N/A

state New Hampshire code NH county Merrimack code NHO013 zip code 03265

3. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
[:] private [:] building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
public-local [ district buildings
[] public-State [ ]site sites
|:| public-Federal structure 1. structures

[] object objects

| Q0 Total

Name of related multiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previously

listed in the National Register __0

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
- nomination [_] request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.
dges not meet the National Register criteria. DSee continuation sheet.

v cFR 9 1989

Date

NEW HAMPSHIRE

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property D meets Ddoes not meet the National Register criteria. D See continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
I, hereby, certify that this property is:

entered in the National Register. eIt j/ /

DSee continuation sheet. B R i /? {7
Ddetermined eligible for the National 4

Register. [:]See continuation sheet.

Ddetermined not eligible for the
National Register.

D removed from the National Register.
[Jother, (explain:)

4

%vs;gnature of the Keeper Date of Action
{




6. Function or Use
Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions) Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Transportation/road-related Transportation/road-related

7. Description

Architectural Classification Materials (enter categories from instructions)
(enter categories from instructions)

: - foundation ___Granite
Other: Town through truss walls Wood

roof Shingle
other

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

The Bog Bridgel is a covered bridge that crosses Pleasant Brook (also.
known as Pleasant Stream) near the junction of the brook with the Blackwater
River in the village of Cilleyville, in the town of Andover. The bridge was
built at its present site in 1887 as a highway bridge, but has been a pedes-
trian bridge since 1957, when the bridge and a short section of Bog Road,
on which it stood, were bypassed by a new state highway, Route 11. The wooden
bridge is a Town through truss bridge, with two Town lattice trusses set on
granite abutments. The bridge, rectangular in plan, is sheathed with vertical
boarding and covered by a wooden shingled gable roof. Save for the roof and
the gables, which were replaced in 1982, the bridge .appeaxrs ‘to retain all of
its original features, and therefore retalns its integrity of location,
de31gn, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association. The bridge
is set on a west-north-west/east-south-east line, with its easterly portal
facing the village of Cilleyville and its westerly portal facing nearby
Route 11 and Elkins Hill Road. The bridge floor is 53 feet long and 13 feet
wide (measuring from truss to .truss). The outside length of the bridge is
approx1mate1y 56 feet, measuring from gable to gable, and the outside width
is 16 feet, measuring from outer wall to outer wall. The clear span between
the bridge abutments is approximately 49 feet.

The two abutments are built of rough cut granite blocks, laid in rough
courses. The east abutment is laid without mortar. But, the west abutment
was rebuilt with cement mortar. after. the 1938. hurrlcane and .flood. (The
abutment walls are. continuous with similar..granite:block. retaining walls
that stretch along the bridge's approaches.:As the approaches were:little
wider than the,bridge floor, the stone retaining walls typlcally continue
the lines of the bridge walls. However, the.southerly retaining wall of
the western. approach does run off at an angle, bearing more to the south.
Both approaches are now covered with gravel and grass and occassional
bushes.) The trusses usually rest on large wooden blocks, set on the abut-
ments. Only, the east end of the downstream (north).truss rests directly
on the granite abutment. The bottom chords of the trusses overlap the
abutments. by about two and a half feet at the east end, but only by about
one and a half feet at the west end.

The two Town lattice trusses, each about 15 feet high, are built pri-
marily of planks, usually 2% inches deep and 9% inches wide. The lattice
1. Today, the bridge is better known as the Cilleyville Bridge, the name
commonly used in covered bridge books and lists. That name 1s historically
confusing,as another nearby covered bridge, built
in 1883 and replaced in 1909, was known as the [X]See contination sheet
Cilleyville Bridge. Bog Brldge was the name used at the time of the bridge's
construction.



9. Major Bibliographical References

Richard Sanders Allen COVERED HIGHWAY BRIDGES OF THE NORTHEAST (Brattleboro,

Vt.: The Stephen Greene Press, 1957)

"Andover Town Records, Volume 11"
Andover, N.H.)

(manuscript, Andover Town Offices,

ANNUAL REPORTS OF THE SELECTMEN AND TREASURER, SCHOOL BOARD, ROAD AGENTS
AND OTHER OFFICERS OF THE TOWN OF ANDOVER, FOR THE YEAR ENDING JANUARY
31, 1939 (Franklin, N.H.: Towne & Robie, 1939)

ANNUAL REPORTS OF THE TOWN OFFICERS OF THE TOWN OF ANDOVER, NEW HAMPSHIRE
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,1957 (no publication data: 1958)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

[___Ipreliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67)
has been requested

E]previously listed in the National Register

[:Ipreviously determined eligible by the National Register

Ddesignated a National Historic Landmark

[___] recorded by Historic American Buildings
Survey #

[Jrecorded by Historic American Engineering
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See continuation sheet

Primary location of additional data:.
[ ] State historic preservation office
[ ] Other State agency
[ 1Federal agency
Local government
[_] University
|:] Other
Specify repository:
Andover Town Offices

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of property less than .1 acre
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[ ]See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description

The nominated property consists of the Bog Bridge and
the abutments extend into the bridge approaches about
ends of the bridge floor, the nominated property is a
mately 57 feet long and 16 feet wide. The boundary of

property is highlighted in yellow on the attached map
Bridge, Andover, N.H.".

its two abutments.As
two feet beyond the
rectangle approxi-
the nominated
entitled "Bog

[ ] see continuation sheet

Boundary Justification

The nominated property includes the Bog Bridge and the abutments on which
it stands and which have been historically associated with the structure,
since its construction.

[ ]See continuation sheet

11. Form Prepared By

nameftite David L. Ruell

organization _Lakes Region Planning Commission date April 24, 1988
street & number _ Main Street telephone (603) 279-3171

city or town Meredith state New Harn}lShlrezip code 03253




8. Statement of Significance
Certlfymg OffICIal has consndered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:

[Inationally statewide [ Jiocally

Applicable National Register Criteria [ JA [ ]B [xX]c []D

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA [18 [ ]Jc [o [Je [JF [a
Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates

Engineering 1887 1887

Cultural Affiliation

N/A
Significant Person Architect/Builder .
N/A Atwood, Prentice C.

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

The Bog Bridge is significant under Criterion C, in the area of engineering,
as a well preserved covered highway bridge employing the Town lattice truss,
typical of a once common bridge type, the Town through truss. Built in 1887
by local carpenter Prentice C. Atwood, the Bog Bridge served as a highway
bridge until 1957, when it was bypassed by a new state highway. Although
now used as a pedestrian bridge, it remains a good example of its type,little
changed since 1its constructlon, save for the necessary replacement of its roof
in 1982. The brldge s two Town trusses, whlch seem to have survived intact,
are representative of those used in the state's fourteen Town through truss
highway bridges. The only major difference is the omission of the upper second-
ary chord, an omission common to the five shortest Town truss bridges. In most
other aspects of its construction, the abutments, floor, sheathlng, and roof,
the Bog Bridge is representative of the New Hampshire covered highway bridges
of its period, its only dlstlnctlon being the omission of the lateral bracing
commonly found in the state s covered bridges.

The flrst covered highway bridges in New Hampshire appeared in the 1820 s.l

The covered wooden truss bridge remained in common use’ throughout the 19th

century and the early 20th century In the late 19th century ‘and the early

20th century, the wooden truss bridges: were 1ncrea51ngly challenged by the

new bridges of iron, steel,:and concrete. But, in rural New Hampshire, the

new bridge materials came- into use very SlOle The Town of Andover, for

example, did not build its first iron bridge until 19909.2 As late as 1937,

a covered wooden highway bridge was built over the Contoocook River between

Hancock and Greenfield.’ Wooden covered bridges once numbered in the hundreds

in the state of New Hampshire.# But, the heavy automobiles and ttucks of

the 20th century required wider and stronger bridges. And the number of

covered highway bridges has declined dramatically. Today, there are only

1. Richard Sanders Allen COVERED BRIDGES OF THE NORTHEAST (Brattleboro,Vt.
1957), p.40

2. Ralph G. Chaffee HISTORY OF ANDOVER, NEW HAMPSHIRE, 1900-1965 (Orford,
N.H.: 1966), p.55

3. Thedia Cox Kenyon NEW HAMPSHIRE'S COVERED BRIDGES (Sanbornville,N.H.:
1957), p.39 | o

4, Allen, p. 40

See continuation sheet
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Street & number Brook between the junction of New Hampshire Routes 11 and
4A and the junction of Mountain and Bog Roads in Cilleyville
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is composed of two overlapping sets of diagonal planks,sloping in opposite
directions, but all at an angle of approximately 60° from the horizontal.
Parallel planks are placed about two feet apart. The overlapping lattice
planks are joined at each junction by two wooden trunnels. The lattice
planks are connected by three horizontal chords, a bottom chord (set

about one foot above the bottom of the lattice), a top chord (set about
one foot below the top of the lattice), and a secondary chord (set about
two feet above the bottom chord and about one foot above the bridge floor).
The chords are composed of planks of the same dimensions as the lattice
planks, running horizontally on both sides of the lattice. The bottom
chord has three inner planks and three outer planks, the top chord two
inner planks and two outer planks, the secondary chord just one plank on
each side of the lattice. The junctions of the bottom chord and the top
chord with the lattice planks are each marked by three trunnels, joining
the truss members together. However, the junctions of the secondary chord
with the lattice planks only have two trunnels. The wooden trunnels have
been supplemented in all three chords by metal bolts holding the chords
together. The trusses are trapezoidal in shape, as the top chords are

both approximately three feet longer than the bottom chords, the top
chords overhanging the bottom chords by approximately one and a half feet
at each end. The slanted ends of the trusses are each marked by a slanting
endpost, a heavier timber than the lattice planks, tied into all three
chords by metal bolts. The lattice planks at the ends of the trusses are
simply butted up against the slanting end posts. The bottom chords of the
two trusses are tied together by two metal tie rods spanning the entire
width of the bridge, one near each abutment. The top chords are joined at
each end by a horizontal beam spanning the portal and resting on top of
the ends of the two top chords. Each portal beam is supported by two heavy
braces, rising from the slanting endposts at each end.

The heavy transverse floor beams rest on the bottom chords of the two
trusses. The floor beams usually span the entire width of the bottom chords
fitting into the triangles formed by the lattice planks and the bottom
chords. (The floor beams are usually two and a half to three feet apart.)
At the ends of the bridge, however, this pattern is broken, the last two
floor beams at each end resting only on the inner planks of the bottom
chords and not penetrating the lattices. The last floor beam at each end
is also supported by the abutment, resting on the granite abutment at the
east end, on a poured concrete sill atop the granite abutment at the west
end. The heavy longitudinal floor planks are laid on the transverse floor
beams. A second layer of longitudinal planks, about ten feet wide, was
laid in the center on top of the first layer of floor planks, to create
a travel lane. Another second layer plank, a transverse plank, spans the
full width of the bridge floor at the west end of the floor. A sill of
rough granite blocks is found at the east end of the bridge floor.
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The long lateral sides of the bridge are sheathed with vertical boards
nailed onto the chords and horizontal timbers on both trusses that run
the full length of the bridge about three feet below the top chord. Save
at the very ends of each lateral side, the vertical boarding does not
extend above this horizontal timber. The sheathing is interrupted by
thirteen untrimmed, tall, narrow rectangular openings on each side. (Some
of the lateral sheathing is now missing.) The portal ends have newer
vertical boarding, dating from the roof replacement of 1982. Both gables
are sheathed with such boarding, as are the triangles formed by the end-
posts, the portal beams, and the portal braces. Each portal opening is
about twelve feet high in the center. (At the west portal are found two
simple wooden railings on the sides of the bridge approach, each supported
by the endpost of the truss and an outer wooden post.)

The long gable roof, replaced in 1982, is supported by light kingpost
trusses, each composed of a horizontal beam (which rests on the top chords
of the two trusses), two rafters, and a kingpost, all bound together by
plywood gussets. The rafters extend beyond the lateral walls to support
the roof overhang. The board roof is sheathed with wooden shingles and
trimmed by ridge boards. The open eaves, overhanging on the sides and the
gables, have exposed rafters and fascia boards.
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forty-three covered highway bridges surviving in the state.” (Eight of
these bridges, including the Bog Bridge, have been restricted to pedes-
trian traffic.)

Fourteen of the forty-three remaining covered highway bridges employ
the Town truss, one of the most popular truss types in the 19th century.
Patented by Ithiel Town in 1820, the Town truss was both versatile and
relatively easy to erect. The truss, composed of a lattice of diagonal
overlapping planks, held together by horizontal chords, could be built
in any length and did not require of its builders any special skills in
bridge design or construction. Any competent and experienced carpenter
could build a Town truss. The versatility of the truss is demonstrated
in New Hampshire by its use in both the Prentiss Bridge in Langdon, now
the shortest covered highway bridge in the state, and in the Cornish,N.H.-
Windsor, Vt. Bridge, now the longest covered bridge in the United States.
The popularlty of the Town truss can be seen in Andover, where it was
used for all seven of the town's covered highway brldggs, including the
two survivors, the Keniston Bridge and the Bog Bridge.

The Bog Bridge was built in 1887 to replace an earlier bridge over
Pleasant Brook on Bog Road, a back road connecting the villages of West
Andover and Cilleyville.7 The bridge was erected by local builder Prentice
C. Atwood® (1834-1903)9, described in hlS obituary as '"a natural mechanic,
spending most of his Slme carpentering', who. lived in Andover from the Civil
War until his death.l0 1In 1883, Atwood had built another covered Town
truss bridge over the Blackwater River in the village of Cilleyville,
barely eight hundred feet from the Bog Bridge.11 So, he was already experi-
enced in the field of bridge construction. The only contemporary record
of the constructlon appears to be the financial report in the Town of
Andover's annual report. The payments for the bridge were made between
September 24,1887 and February 27,1888. However, the principal payments,
for the lumber on October 3, and for the labor of Atwood and three of his
four major helpers on October 17, show that the bridge was completed in
5. "New Hampshire Covered Bridges'", dated June 8,1987 (manuscript, N.H.
Department of Transportation, Bureau of Bridge Design, Concord,N.H.)

6. Chaffee, p.57

7. Chaffee, pp.60-61

8. Chaffee, p.61

9. "Death Certificate, Prentice C. Atwood" (manuscript, N.H. Bureau of
Vital Statistics, Concord, N.H.)

10. The Journal-Transcript (Franklin, N.H.), January 14,1904, p.6

11. Chaffee, p.60
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the fall of 1887. Of the total cost of $465.00 for the actual construction
of the bridge, materials accounted for $331 81, labor for $130.22, and a
freight bill for supplles for the remalnln% $2.97. Atwood himself received
$39.50 for "19 3-4 days' labor on bridge. 2Addltlonal payments totaling
§57.63 were made for fixing the abutments, 'erading and f%llln " the bridge
approaches between October 3,1887 and February 27,1888. ¥2e total cost
for the bridge project to the Town of Andover was $522.63.

The Bog Bridge has seen relatively few changes since its construction.

The bridge did develop a slight lean soon after its completion. A local

tale attributes the lean to disgruntled carpenters, who became angry with

Atwood and cut some timbers short so as to eventually produce the lean.

A far more likely cause was the lack of lateral bracing in the bridge

structure, which would allow the trusses to lean. The lean disappeared in

1957, ghen the bridge was straightened up, and other minor repairs were

made. After the 1938 hurricane and the accomganying flood, the damaged

west abutment was rebuilt with cement mortar. But the rebuilt west abut-
ment does not now appear very different from the untouched east abutment.

The addition of supplemental metal bolts in the trusses was probably after

the construction, but cannot now be dated. And presumably, the sheathing

and the floor planks have been renewed when necessary. The most serious
damage to the bridge occurred on March 9,1982, whig the roof collapsed
under the weight of an unusually heavy snow load. At the 1982 annual
town meeting that soon followed the roof collapse, the voters decided to
repair the bridge. Contractor Donald Evans built a new roof and resheathed
the gables, completing his work in July. 19 The new roof was modeled on the
old roof. So, there is little evident change on the exterior, although,
the new roof trusses and ceiling are obvious in the interior.

12. REPORTS OF THE SELECTMEN, TREASURER, AND SCHOOL BOARD OF THE TOWN OF
ANDOVER FOR THE YEAR ENDING MARCH lST, 1888 (Franklin Falls,N.H.:1888)
p.13

13. REPORTS OF THE SELECTMEN, TREASURER, AND SCHOOL BOARD OF THE TOWN OF
ANDOVER FOR THE YEAR ENDING MARCH 1ST, 1888, p.l4

14, REPORTS OF THE SELECTMEN, TREASURER, AND SCHOOL BOARD OF THE TOWN OF
ANDOVER FOR THE YEAR ENDING MARCH 1ST, 1888, p.21

15. Kenyon, p.39

16. ANNUAL REPORTS OF THE TOWN OFFICERS OF THE TOWN OF'ANDOVER; NEWﬂHAMP—
SHIRE, FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,1958 (Franklin,N.H.:1959)
p.lé

17. ANNUAL REPORTS OF THE SELECTMEN AND TREASURER, SCHOOL BOARD, ROAD
AGENTS AND OTHER OFFICERS OF THE TOWN OF ANDOVER FOR THE YEAR ENDING
JANUARY 31, 1939 (Franklin, N.H.:1939) p. 13

18. "New Hampshire Covered Bridges', dated June 8,1987, p.3

19. TOWN OF ANDOVER 1982 ANNUAL REPORT (no publication data) p.l1l2
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Bog Bridge's survival and fine state of preservation can be attributed
to its relative unimportance. The bridge served Bog Road, a back road
connecting the two small villages, and Elkins Hill Road, a dead end road
with few houses. Five of the seven covered bridges in Andover, all built
in the late 19th century, were replaced by new concrete, iron and steel
bridges to accomodate the automobile and truck traffic of the 20th cen-
tury.20 But, the light traffic over the Bog Bridge did not justify either
its replacement or the strengthening of the bridge with additional elements,
such as steel girders. In 1956 and 1957, Route 11, the main east-west road
through the town of Andover, was relocated to bypass the villages of Potter
Place and Cilleyville. The new state highway crossed the Blackwater River
north of its junction with Pleasant Brook and passed the Bog Bridge, barely
a hundred feet to its north. North of the new Route 11, Bog Road was
replaced by another relocated state highway, Route 4A.21 The new roads
eliminated the need for Bog Bridge. But,Andover's voters decided to keep
the bridge, voting at the annual town meeting in March 1956 to close_ the
bridge to all but foot traffic, when the new highway was completed,22 and,
at the annual town meeting in March 1958 to close the approaches ta the
bridge as highways and to preserve the bridge as a local landmark. 3 The
1982 decision to replace the collapsed bridge roof demonstrates the con-
tinued determination of the townspeople to preserve this now little used
bridge as a reminder of a past era.

The Bog Bridge is the youngest of the fourteen covered highway bridges
using the Town truss still surviving in the state, the others ranging in
date Zom the 1827 Bath-Haverhill Bridge to the 1885 Edgell Bridge in
Lyme. It does not, however, differ significantly from the other bridges.
The principal features of the truss design, such as the dimensions of the
timbers and the angle of the lattice planks, are typical of the other Town
truss bridges. The one major difference is the omission in the Bog Bridge
20. Chaffee, pp. 60-61
21. Chaffee, p.46
22. "Andover Town Records, Volume 11" (manuscript, Andover Town Offices,
Andover, N.H.) pp. 383 and 385

23. "Andover Town Records, Volume 11", pp. 429 and 431

34. The comparison in this paragraph is based on published sources, notably
Allen's COVERED BRIDGES OF THE NORTHEAST, Kenyon's NEW HAMPSHIRE'S
COVERED BRIDGES, the 1987 manuscript "New Hampshire Covered Bridges',
and Richard Donovan, ed. WORLD GUIDE TO COVERED BRIDGES (Boston: 1980),
as well as personal inspections of some bridges, "Bridge Inspection
Reports'" at the N.H. Department of Transportation, Bureau of Bridge
Design, Concord, N.H., and National Register nominations. (Eleven of
the fourteen bridges are listed on the National Register.)
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trusses of the upper secondary chord. Most of the state's Town truss
bridges have, besides the primary top and bottom chords, two secondary
chords, one just above the bottom chord, and one just below the top chord.
However, on the five shortest bridges, one or both secondary chords were
omitted. On three bridges, the Waterloo Bridge in Warner, the Cold River
Bridge and the Prentiss Bridge in Langdon, there are no secondary chords
at all. The two Andover bridges, the Keniston Bridge and the Bog Bridge,
have only lower secondary chords on their trusses. The shorter spans of
these five bridges,and the consequent reductions in stress, apparently
convinced their builders that the secondary chords could omitted without
reducing the strength of the structures. The other features of the Bog
Bridge's design, the granite abutments, the floor beams resting on the
bottom chord, the heavy floor planks, the board sheathing on the sides

and in the gables, and the long wooden shingled gable roof, are found on
the majority of the state's covered highway bridges. The one other uncommon
feature of the Bog Bridge's design is another omission, the lack of lateral
bracing between the trusses. The typical covered highway bridge in New
Hampshire has transverse and/or diagonal wooden beams, and sometimes metal
tie rods, between the two top chords and the two bottom chords of its
trusses, to keep the trusses vertical and correctly spaced. Save for the
two metal tie rods between the bottom chords and, possibly, the portal
beams between the top chords, the Bog Bridge has no lateral bracing. The
omission of such bracing between the trusses on the bridge was probably

an economy move, justified, no doubt, by the shortness of the bridge. And,
despite the slight lean that eventually developed, the bridge does not
seem to have suffered from the lack of lateral bracing. Basically, the

Bog Bridge remains a strikingly well preserved example of the Town through
truss wooden bridge, a good representative of one of the most popular
bridge types in 19th century New Hampshire.
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ANNUAL REPORTS OF THE TOWN OFFICERS OF THE TOWN OF ANDOVER, NEW HAMPSHIRE
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,1958 (Franklin,N.H.: The Journal-
Transcript, 1959)

Ralph G. Chaffee '"Andover, New Hampshire Bridges'" Covered Bridge Associa-
tion of New Hampshire Newsletter, February 1,1967

Ralph G. Chaffee HISTORY OF ANDOVER, NEW HAMPSHIRE 1900-1965 (Orford,N.H.:
Equity Publishing, 1966)

"Death Certificate, Prentice C. Atwood" (manuscript, N.H. Bureau of Vital
Statistics, Concord, N.H.)

Richard T. Donovan,ed. WORLD GUIDE TO COVERED BRIDGES (Boston:National
Society for the Preservation of Covered Bridges, Inc., 1980)

The Journal-Transcript , January 7 and 14, 1904

Thedia Cox Kenyon NEW HAMPSHIRE'S COVERED BRIDGES (Sanbornville, N.H.:
Wake-Brook House, 1957)

"New Hampshire Covered Bridges',dated June 8,1987 (manuscript, N.H.
Department of Transportation, Bureau of Bridge Design, Concord, N.H.)

REPORTS OF THE SELECTMEN, TREASURER, AND SCHOOL BOARD OF THE TOWN OF

ANDOVER FOR THE YEAR ENDING MARCH 1ST, 1888 (Franklin Falls, N.H.:
Merrimack Journal Press, 1888)

TOWN OF ANDOVER 1982 ANNUAL REPORT (no publication data: 1983)
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This certifies that the appearance has not changed since these
photographs were taken.
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